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GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Li ke many people trying to catch a plane around t he hol i days,
Regina Kay Garrett was in a hurry. Unlike nost, she forgot that
she had a gun in her purse, or so she says. The principal question
we decide today is whether the federal statute that crimnalizes
this conduct requires any degree of nens rea as an el enent of the
offense. W hold that a "should have known" standard applies.

Facts and Proceedi ngs Bel ow

On Decenber 18, 1990, Regina Kay Garrett was a ticketed

passenger for and attenpted to board flight 457 of L'Express

Airlines, a regularly schedul ed comrercial conmuter airline, from



New Orleans to Al exandria, Louisiana. Passing through the New
Orleans airport security, Garrett was stopped when the security
guard nonitoring the X-ray scanner noticed a dark mass in the hand
bag that Garrett had placed on the conveyor belt. A consensua
search of the bag was conducted and a smal | hand gun was di scovered
t herein. The gun, a Browning .25 caliber sem -automatic, was
| oaded with six rounds in the nagazine and one in the chanber.
Garrett told security personnel that she had forgotten that the gun
was in her purse.!?

Garrett was charged in a one count bill of information with
attenpting to board an aircraft with a concealed weapon in
violation of the Federal Aviation Act (the Act or the statute).

See 49 U S.C. App. 8§ 1472(1)(1).%2 Garrett waived her right to a

. Airport security officials confiscate approximtely 2,500
firearnms each year, or about seven a day. See MDowell, Guns at
Airports, an Everyday Event, N. Y. Tines, Dec. 29, 1992, at A9.
Recently, singer and pianist Harry Connick, Jr., was arrested in
New York's John F. Kennedy International Airport for this

of fense. Notably, the Tines reports that, "Mst of those
arrested . . . are like M. Connick: they say they sinply forgot
they were carrying guns to the airport."” Id.

2 49 U.S.C. App. 8 1472(1) provides in pertinent part:

"(1) Wth respect to any aircraft in, or intended for
operation in air transportation or intrastate air
transportati on, whoeversQ(A) while aboard, or while
attenpting to board such aircraft has on or about his
person or his property a conceal ed deadly or dangerous
weapon which is, or could be, accessible to such person
inflight; . . . shall be fined not nore than $10, 000
or inprisoned not nore than one year, or both."

We pause to nention that the statute at issue in this appeal
is section 1472(1), not section 1472(1). The typographi cal
simlarity between the |ower case "|I" and the nunber one has been
the source of sonme confusion surrounding the citation of section
1472. See United States v. Mena, 933 F.2d 19, 22 n.2 (1st Cr
1991) .



jury trial and the cause was tried by consent before a United
States Magi strate Judge. On January 14, 1992, the magistrate
denied Garrett's notion to dismss the bill of information. On
January 23, 1992, a bench trial was held and Garrett was found
guilty. Garrett was sentenced to five years' probation and a $25
speci al assessnent. As a special condition of probation, the
magi strate ordered Garrett to reside for six nonths in a hal fway
house. Garrett appealed her conviction and sentence to the
district court, 18 U.S.C. § 3402, and, on May 5, 1992, the district
court affirmed the magistrate's decision. Garrett nmade a tinely
appeal to this Court. 28 U S.C. § 1291.
Di scussi on

On appeal, CGarrett raises three points of error. First,
Garrett argues that the Act does not apply to her because her
flight was to be wholly within the state of Loui siana. Second, she
argues that her conviction is invalid because the magistrate did
not find that she had actual know edge that the gun was in her
purse.® Third, Garrett argues that when the nmgi strate cal cul at ed
her sentence she was entitled to, but did not receive, a three
point reduction of her offense l|evel pursuant to section
2k1.5(b)(3) of the U S. Sentencing Guidelines (U S S . G).
|. The Statute's Applicability

Garrett challenges the applicability of the statute to her

conduct . By its own terns, section 1472(1) applies to "any

3 Garrett also nakes the related argunent that the bill of
information with which she was charged was insufficient, and
shoul d have been di sm ssed, because it did not allege actual
know edge of the gun's presence as an el enent of the crine.
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aircraft in, or intended for operation in air transportation or
intrastate air transportation.” The latter term "intrastate air
transportation” is defined elsewhere in the statute as "the
carriage of persons or property as a comon carrier for
conpensation or hire, by turbojet-powered aircraft capable of
carrying thirty or nore persons, wholly within the sane State of
the United States." 49 U S.C. App. 8 1301(26). The governnent
concedes, as it nust, that the plane Garrett attenpted to board was
not in "intrastate air transportation"; the L' Express aircraft at
i ssuesSQa Beech 1900 turbopropsQseats only nineteen passengers.

The real question, then, is whether the plane was engaged in
"air transportation,” which the statute defines as "interstate,
overseas, or foreign air transportation or the transportation of
mail by aircraft.” 49 U S.C. 8§ 1301(10). There is no evidence or
claim that the plane was engaged in overseas or foreign air
transportation, or carried miil. Relying onthe term"interstate"
as its textual hook, the governnent observes that on Decenber 18,
1990, the L'Express plane carried passengers to nmnultiple
destinations in three states.* The government points out that the
pl ane crossed state borders on the next day al so. Garrett responds

that the flight for which she was ticketed was wholly within the

4 On that day, the aircraft originated in Birm ngham Al abama,
and flew to Mobile, Al abama, before proceeding to three Louisiana
destinations: New Ol eans, Lafayette, and Lake Charles. From
Lake Charles, the plane flew to Houston, Texas. From Houston, it
fl ew back to Lake Charles, to Lafayette, and then to New Ol eans,
where Garrett attenpted to board. From New Ol eans, the plane
flewto three cities in Louisiana (Al exandria, Shreveport, and
Bat on Rouge) before finally returning to New Oleans. Al of
these were regul arly-schedul ed L' Express Airline flights.
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state of LouisianasQfrom New Ol eans to Al exandri asQand thus the
pl ane woul d not have been in interstate transportation during the
time that she was to be on board. To underscore the singularity of
her flight, Garrett notes that the plane changed L' Express flight
nunbers upon its arrival in New Ol eans fromHouston, Lake Charl es,
and Lafayette, and received a new crew.

I n essence, the parties' dispute is over what slice of tine we
shoul d exam ne in order to characterize the plane's novenents. The
gover nnent woul d have us viewthe plane's journeys over a period of
one or two days; Garrett wants us to exam ne only that span of tine
during which she would have been a passenger. The statute,
unfortunately, provides no guidance as to the proper scope of the
inquiry and we decline to fornulate a precise rule at this tine.
On the facts of this case, we hold that the plane was i ntended for
operation in interstate transportation.

On the sane day and not | ong before L' Express Airlines flight
457 was scheduled to depart from New Ol eans for Al exandria, the
pl ane had conme from Houston, Texas, on a regularly schedul ed
L' Express Airlines flight.®> It is thus clear that this plane was
intended, in part, to carry passengers who mght wish to fly
L' Express bet ween Houston and Al exandria.® Thus, on the flight on

which Garrett was scheduled to fly, the aircraft was i ntended to be

5 The plane left Houston as L' Express Airlines flight 331 at
1:00 p.m and landed in New Ol eans (after quick stops in Lake
Charl es and Lafayette) at 3:10 p.m Flight 457 left New Ol eans
(sans Ms. Garrett) at 4:00 p. m

6 Flight 457 went to Al exandria, Shreveport, and Baton Rouge,
before returning to the Crescent City.
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available for the purpose of, and could actually have been,
transporting passengers who were traveling from one state to
another. This satisfies us that the plane cane wthin the anbit of
section 1472(1) at least during Garrett's flight. There is no
evi dence that any Houston passengers in fact flew on flight 457,
and we hence assune that none actually did. But, section 1472
applies to "any aircraft in, or intended for operation in"
interstate air transportation. Therefore, it is enough, we think,
that the flight 457 aircraft was operated with the intent of its
being a potential conponent of soneone's interstate travels on
L' Express Airlines.”’
1. The Statute's Mens Rea Requirenent

Garrett's next argunent on appeal is that her conviction
shoul d be overturned because the governnent did not prove, nor even
attenpt to prove, that she had know edge that the gun was in her
purse when she attenpted to board the L'Express flight. The
governnent's position is that section 1472(1)(1) is a strict
liability offense and contains no intent requirenent whatsoever.
The magi strate, eschew ng both extrenes, declared that "this Court
is of the opinion that it would be consistent with Fifth Crcuit

jurisprudence and the United States Constitution to apply a 'should

! We do not foreclose the possibility that a broader principle
m ght be applied to facts such as these to support a finding that
a plane was engaged in interstate air transportation. But that
deci sion nust wait for another day. Cf. United States v.

Del acerda, 474 F.2d 857, 858 (9th Gr. 1973)(holding that an
airline was engaged in air transportation under 49 U S.C. 8§
1301(10) where the airline "was properly engaged in the
transportation of United States nmails on sone routes")(per

curiam enphasis added).



have known' standard to this m sdeneanor offense." W agree.
A

Whet her section 1472(1)(1) contains a nens rea requirenent is
a question that a nunber of other circuit courts seemngly
addressed during the 1970's. The governnent cites United States v.
Flum 518 F.2d 39 (8th Cr.)(en banc), cert. denied, 96 S.Ct. 454
(1975); United States v. Dishman, 486 F.2d 727 (9th Cr. 1973); and
United States v. Margraf, 483 F.2d 708 (3d Cr.)(en banc), vacated
and remanded, 94 S. Ct. 833 (1973); for the proposition that section
1472(1)(1) contains no intent requirenent. Garrett offers United
States v. Lee, 539 F.2d 606 (6th G r. 1976), for the counter
proposition.® W believe that none of these courts were squarely
presented with, or actually decided, the precise issue before us.

In Flum the defendant attenpted to board an aircraft with a
swi t chbl ade and a butcher knife in his carry-on baggage. The issue
in Flum however, was not whether the defendant knew that he was
carrying the knives, but rather whether he had i ntended to conceal
t hem

"I'n this appeal Flumcontends that he was convicted upon

i nsufficient evidence since there was no evi dence tendi ng

to establish that he i ntended to conceal the knives which

wer e di scovered during a preboardi ng search of his carry-

on |luggage and personal belongings." 518 F.2d at 40

(footnote omtted; enphasis added).

There i s no suggestion in Flumthat the defendant did not know t hat

he was carrying the knives. |ndeed, the court pointedly observed
that, "No issue of scienter is present in this case. It is
8 For a general discussion of these four cases, see

Annotation, 109 A L. R Fed. 488, 526-28 (1992).
7



undi sput ed t hat defendant knew t he nature and approxi mate | ocati on
of each of the knives." 1d. at 44 n.10. On the nerits, the court
held that intent to conceal is not an el enent of a section 1472(1)
vi ol ation.?®

In D shman, the defendant was carrying a .22 caliber starter
pistol. The question presented to the Ninth Grcuit was whether
t he gun, which was capable only of firing bl anks, was a "deadly or
danger ous weapon" within the neaning of the statute. (The answer
was yes.) Thus, despite such general statenents as "[s]ubsection
(I') is anon-intent statute,” 486 F.2d at 732, it is clear that the
def endant's know edge was not an issue before the D shman court.
To the extent that Di shman di scussed an intent requirenent, what
the court said was that, to be guilty of violating section 1472(1),
one need not intend to use the weapon in a dangerous way while in
flight: "Any necessary elenent of present or |ater devel oped
intent to nmake use of the 'deadly and dangerous' weapon in the
comm ssion of a crinme while aboard the aircraft is conspicuous by

its utter absence." |Id. at 730.1

o Nor has Flum been given a broader interpretation in
subsequent cases. See United States v. Collins, 949 F.2d 1029,
1031 (8th Gr. 1991). Collins is the only reported Ei ghth
Crcuit case to cite Flum

10 The governnent also cites the Ninth Grcuit case of United
States v. Wallace, 800 F.2d 1509 (1986), cert. denied, 107 S.C
1901 (1987). However, Wallace nerely holds that (follow ng

Di shman) a stun gun is a dangerous weapon under the statute and
that (followng Flum intent to conceal is not required by
section 1472(1). The latter holding is arguably dicta in that,
apart fromthe question of a stun gun's dangerousness, "the
parties stipulated to the existence of all elenents necessary for
a conviction under 49 U.S.C. § 1472(l)." 800 F.2d at 1513. The
only Ninth Crcuit case other than Wallace to cite Dishman is
United States v. Patterson, 664 F.2d 1346, 1348 (1982), which
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In Margraf, the defendant attenpted to board while carrying a
fol ding pocket knife. The question before the Third Crcuit was
not whet her the defendant knew that he was carrying the knife or
what its physical characteristics were (which he plainly did), but
rather whether he knew that the knife was legally a deadly or
danger ous weapon. In other words, the know edge issue in Margraf
was whet her section 1472(1) contains a specific intent requirenent.
To be sure, there is language in Mrgraf which would suggest a
br oader readi ng. See, e.g., 483 F.2d at 720 (Seitz, C.J.,
di ssenting)("Under the majority's standard, no i ntent or know edge
of any kind is required for conviction."). However, there is no
doubt that the issue before Margraf was specific intent:

"[Appellant] <clains that it 1is necessary for the

governnent to prove a specific intent to carry a

‘conceal ed deadly or dangerous weapon' onto a plane in

order for a defendant to be convicted. In other words,

it is not sufficient for the governnment to show that a

def endant was boarding a plane with a conceal ed deadly

weapon on his person; it nust go further and show t hat

the defendant was aware that his weapon was dangerous,

and knowing this, still intended to carry the weapon

aboard." I1d. at 709 (enphasis added).

The Third Crcuit rejected this argunent and instead affirned the
defendant's conviction on the ground that he "should have been

aware that it could be used as a deadly weapon." |Id. at 712.1

cited Dishman for the famliar proposition that crimnal statutes
are to be construed narrowy in favor of the defendant.

1 Mar graf's subsequent history was curious. At the urging of
the Solicitor General, the Suprene Court granted certiorari in
Mar graf and then vacated and remanded the decision to the Third
Crcuit. 94 S.Ct. 833 (1973). The Solicitor General recommended
that the conplaint against Margraf be di sm ssed because his
knife, which had only a 3 1/4 inch blade, did not neet the
definition of a "weapon or dangerous object" under FAA
guidelines. The Solicitor CGeneral did not concede, however, that

9



The case cited by Garrett, United States v. Lee, is a
procedurally peculiar case. The defendant-appellant, Billy Ray
Lee, was stopped with a hand gun in his brief case. Lee clained
that he had placed the gun in the case the night before and had
forgotten that it was there. Lee consented to be tried by a
magi strate judge, who found himguilty as charged. On the issue of
intent, the magistrate held that it was unnecessary to determ ne
whet her Lee knew that the gun was in his brief case, because the
statute did not neke intent an elenent of the offense. Lee
appealed to the district court, which reversed on the ground that
know edge of the presence of the weapon is an el enent of the crine.
The district court then remanded to the nagistrate to determ ne
whet her Lee had knowi ngly possessed the gun. After the case was
remanded, the nagistrate denied Lee's notion seeking a jury trial,
retried the case upon the sane evidence, and once again found Lee
guilty. The district court affirnmed the magi strate's decision and

Lee appealed to the Sixth Grcuit. Lee raised as error both the

section 1472(1) contains any requirenent of specific intent or
scienter. Upon remand, the Third Crcuit ordered the district
court to dismss the case. 493 F.2d 1206 (1974).

It is uncertain whether Margraf, which has been cited only
twce in the Third Grcuit, remains good law. United States v.
Harris, 381 F. Supp. 1095 (E.D. Pa. 1974), broadly pronounced t hat
"as long as [Margraf] remains the law of this Crcuit, know edge
plainly is not a requisite for a conviction under 49 U S.C. 8§
1472(1)." 1d. at 1101. That concl usion, however, is pure dictum
i nasnmuch as the court found anpl e evidence that the defendant had
such knowl edge. See id. ("absent the Magistrate's finding of
know edge, | would apply [Margraf] to the present
action")(enphasis added; footnote omtted). The other case
citing Margraf, United States v. WIkinson, 389 F.Supp. 465, 468
(WD. Pa.), aff'd, 521 F.2d 1400 (3d Cr. 1975)(table), nerely
mentions the dissent in Margraf for a proposition unrelated to
section 1472(1)"'s intent requirenent.

10



magi strate's refusal to permt himto withdraw his earlier jury
trial waiver and t he hol di ng that know ng possessi on was an el enent
of section 1472(1).12

The Sixth Crcuit agreed with the district court that "§ 1472
required a finding that appellant knew of the presence of the
conceal ed dangerous weapon." Lee, 539 F.2d at 608. In the very
next sentence, however, the court explained that, "Neverthel ess,
Lee's conviction nust be reversed because he should have been
permtted to withdraw his consent to trial before a magistrate."”
Because Lee's conviction was reversed on that ground, the court's
approval of the district court's conclusion as to section
1472(1)(1)'s nmens rea requirenment is dicta.?®

In sum the precise issue before this Court was not present in

Flum D shman, or Margraf, and was addressed in Lee only by dicta;

12 Strangely enough, Lee raised the latter issue at the request
of the U S. Attorney.

13 After the Sixth Grcuit's decision, the governnent proceeded
against Lee a third tine. "It has been established as the | aw of

this case," a subsequent court noted, that "M . Lee cannot be
convicted of violating 49 U S.C 8§ 1472(1) if he did not knowsQ
had forgottensQthat he had the weapon involved in his brief
case." United States v. Lee, 435 F. Supp. 974, 982

(E. D. Tenn. 1976). However, in support of this proposition the
court cited not the Sixth Grcuit's Lee opinion, but the district
court decision prior to Lee which had held that section

1472(1) (1) requires know edge.

Lee has been cited in the Sixth Crcuit only twice, both
times for propositions related to a defendant's w t hdrawal of
consent to trial by magistrate. See United States v. Martin, 704
F.2d 267, 271 (6th Gr. 1983); United States v. Goth, 682 F.2d
578, 579 (6th Cr. 1982). But cf. United States v. Busic, 592
F.2d 13, 21 (2d Gr. 1978)(citing Lee for the proposition that
"[t]he offense of aircraft piracy . . . requires a show ng of
general crimnal intent, not a show ng of specific crimnal
intent.").

11



we appear to be the first appellate court to pass on the question.
B

I n determ ni ng whet her section 1472(1)(1) contains a nens rea
requi renent, our overarching task is to give effect to the intent
of the Congress. The Congress is fully capable of creating strict
liability crinmes when it is their intent to do so. See Liparota v.
United States, 105 S.Ct. 2084, 2087 (1985)("The definition of the
elements of a crimnal offense is entrusted to the |egislature,
particularly in the case of federal crinmes, which are solely
creatures of statute.")(citation omtted). O course, the Congress

cannot do so in a way that transgresses constitutional boundaries.®

14 One district court case that did squarely address the issue
is United States v. Pou, 484 F.Supp. 972 (S.D.Fla.1979). In Pou,
t he defendant was charged with a violation of section 1472(1) and
nmoved to dismss the bill of information with which he was
charged on the ground that it did not allege know edge as an

el emrent of the crine. Cting Lee, the Pou court agreed with the
def endant: "Know edge of the presence of a conceal ed dangerous
weapon is an elenent of the offense codified in 49 U S.CA 8§
1472." 1d. at 974. W have found no reported citations to Pou,
and, as we shall see, we do not agree with it entirely.

15 The Suprene Court has indicated that, under sone
circunstances, the inposition of crimmnal liability wthout nens
rea violates due process. See, e.g., Lanbert v. California, 78
S.Ct. 240, 242 (1957)(Los Angel es ordinance requiring felons to
register their presence in the city "violates due process where
it is applied to a person who has no actual know edge of his duty
to register"). See also United States v. Wil ff, 758 F.2d 1121,
1125 (6th Gr. 1985)(felony provisions of the Mgratory Bird
Treaty Act, which prohibit the sale of mgratory birds, violate
due process because of "the absence of a requirenent that the
gover nnment prove sone degree of scienter"); but see United States
v. Engler, 806 F.2d 425, 432-34 (3d Gr. 1986), cert. denied, 107
S.Ct. 1900 (1987)(declining to follow Wil ff). In the wake of

Wil ff, the Congress anended the Act to require violations of its
felony provisions to be conmtted "knowingly." See 16 U S.C. §
707(b). The m sdeneanor provisions of the Mgratory Bird Treaty
Act are discussed infra in connection with United States v.

Del ahoussaye, 573 F.2d 910 (5th Gr. 1978).

12



Accordingly, to give due respect both to the will of the Congress
and the mandate of the Constitution, we construe the acts of
Congress, whenever possible, so as to avoid raising serious
constitutional questions. See, e.g., Public Gtizen v. United
States Dep't of Justice, 109 S.Ct. 2558, 2572-73 (1989).

Qur effort to discern Congress' intent nust begin, of course,
wth the statute's | anguage. By its explicit terns, see supra note
2, the statute nakes no nention of nens rea. But before going any
further, we reject a textual argunment made by the governnent. That
section 1472(1)(1) contains no nens rea requi renent, the governnent
mai ntains, nust be inferred from the fact that the very next
subsecti on does so explicitly.® Variations of this argunment have
been made before. Cf. Margraf, 483 F.2d at 710. To be sure, the
fact that section 1472(1)(2) speaks of wllful or reckless
vi ol ations of section 1472(1)(1) is convincing evidence that one
need not act willfully or recklessly to violate section 1472(1)(1).
One cannot infer from section 1472(1)(2), however, that section
1472(1) (1) contains no nens rea requirenent whatsoever. There is
a range of cul pability between reckl essness or w |l ful ness, on the
one hand, and total bl anel essness, on the other, the nost famliar
of which is ordinary negligence. Therefore, the absence of

know edge i s not the necessary converse of willfulness. Sotoo, in

16 49 U.S.C. App. 8§ 1472(1)(2) provides:

"Whoever willfully and without regard for the safety of
human life, or with reckless disregard for the safety
of human life, shall commt an act prohibited by
paragraph (1) of this subsection, shall be fined not
nore than $25,000 or inprisoned not nore than five
years, or both."

13



sone contexts, it takes nore than know edge for a violation to be
willful. See, e.g., Cheek v. United States, 111 S.C. 604, 609-12
(1991) (conviction for willful failure to file a federal incone tax
return and wi Il ful evasion of incone taxes requires the voluntary,
intentional violation of a known | egal duty).

Thus, we are left with a statute which is, as we see it,
silent on the question of nens rea. Yet, "certainly far nore than
the sinple om ssion of the appropriate phrase fromthe statutory
definition is necessary to justify dispensing with an intent
requirenent." United States v. United States GypsumCo., 98 S. Ct
2864, 2874 (1978). The requirenent of nmens rea as predicate to
crimnal liability is a fundanental precept of the Angl o-Arerican
comon |aw. As Justice Jackson el oquently stated:

"The contention that an injury can anount to a crine only

when inflicted by intention is no provincial or transient

noti on. It is as universal and persistent in nmature

systens of |aw as belief in freedomof the human will and

a consequent ability and duty of the normal individual to

choose between good and evil." Morissette v. United

States, 72 S.Ct. 240, 243 (1952)(footnote omtted).

So deeply rooted is this tradition that it is presuned that the
Congress intended to incorporate sone requirenent of nens rea in
its definition of federal crimes, although that presunption is
rebuttable. Accordingly, "the failure of Congress explicitly and
unanbi guously to indicate whether nens rea is required does not
signal a departure fromthis background assunption of our crim nal

| aw. Li parota, 105 S.Ct. at 2088. See also 1 W LaFave & A
Scott, Substantive Crimnal Law 8 5.1, at 579 (1986)("the absence
of words in the statute requiring a certain nental state does not

warrant the assunption that the legislature intended to inpose

14



strict liability"). In short, we wll presune that Congress
intended to require sone degree of nmens rea as part of a federa
crimnal offense absent evidence of a contrary congressional
i ntent.

This presunption is well established, too, in the case | aw of
this Grcuit. A semnal case in this regard is United States v.
Del ahoussaye, 573 F.2d 910 (5th Cr. 1978), in which defendants
wer e convi cted of duck hunting in violation of federal regul ations
promul gated pursuant to the Mgratory Bird Treaty Act, 16 U S.C. §
703 et seq. These regulations, 50 C.F.R 8§ 20.21(i), prohibit the
shooting of mgratory gane birds over a baited field. Reasoning
that hunters m ght innocently violate these regul ations by hunting
over a field wi thout know edge that it was baited, we held that "a
m ni mum form of scientersQthe 'should have known' fornsQis a
necessary elenent of the offense.” ld. at 912. "Any ot her

interpretation,” we said, "would sinply render crimnal conviction
an unavoi dabl e occasi onal consequence of duck hunting." 1d. at
912-13. %

In United States v. Anderson, 885 F.2d 1248 (5th G r. 1989)(en

banc), defendant was convicted of violating the National Firearns

17 The hol ding i n Del ahoussaye is, as its author, Judge GCee,

| ater conceded, "Unique anong the Crcuits.” United States v.
Syl vester, 848 F.2d 520, 522 (5th Cr. 1988); see also Catlett v.
United States, 105 S. Ct. 2153, 2154 (1985)(Wiite, J., dissenting
fromdenial of certiorari)(noting split in the circuits). Sone
evi dence has energed that Del ahoussaye is contrary to the intent
of a subsequent Congress. See S. Rep. No. 445, 99th Cong., 2d
Sess., reprinted in 1986 U S.C C. A N 6113, 6128 ("Nothing in
this amendnent is intended to alter the "strict liability'
standard for m sdeneanor prosecutions under 16 U S.C. 8§ 707(a), a
standard whi ch has been upheld in many Federal court
decisions.").
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Act, 26 U S.C 8§ 5681 et seq. Concluding that this Court's
"precedent permtting conviction of certain felonies w thout proof
of mens rea . . . is aberrational in our jurisprudence," id. at
1249, we reversed his conviction on the ground that the governnment
had failed to prove that he knew that the guns were autonmatic
weapons (and hence prohibited by the Act). W said at the tine:

"We think it far too severe for our community to bearSQ

and plainly not intended by CongresssQto subject to ten

years' inprisonnment one who possesses what appears to be,

and what he innocently and reasonably believes to be, a

whol Iy ordinary and |l egal pistol nerely because it has

been, unknown to him nodified to be fully automatic."”

Anderson, 885 F.2d at 1254 (footnote omtted).

In United States v. Wallington, 889 F.2d 573 (5th Cr. 1989),
def endant was convicted of divulging information that he had
obtained within the scope of his official duties as a United States
Custons agent in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1905. W rejected his
argunents that the statute was overbroad and vague by construing it

narromy to apply only to informati on that the enpl oyee knows to be

confidential. "W do not believe that Congress intended to create
strict crimnal liability and i npose prison sentences of up to one
year for innocent disclosures of information." [|d. at 578.

In United States v. Nguyen, 916 F.2d 1016 (5th Cr. 1990),
def endant was convi cted of possessing and inporting a threatened
species of sea turtle (caretta caretta) in violation of the
Endangered Species Act, 16 U S.C. § 1531 et seq. W affirned and
held that the Act contained no specific intent requirenent: "it is
sufficient that Nguyen knew that he was in possession of a turtle.
The governnent was not required to prove that Nguyen knewthat this

turtle is a threatened species or that it is illegal to transport
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or inport it." ld. at 1018. We distingui shed Anderson, and
refrained from reading into the Act a nore demanding nens rea
requi renent, because Congress had nmade its intent clear: "The
[ House] commttee explicitly stated that it did 'not intend to make
know edge of the |l aw an el enent of either civil penalty or crimnal
violations of the Act.'" ld. at 1019 (quoting the legislative
hi story).

Here, the text of section 1472(1)(1) provides no indication
that the Congress intended to depart from the default rule of
requiring sonme nens rea. Nor is there anything in the | egislative
hi story of the Federal Aviation Act that would |lead us to believe
t hat the Congress i ntended section 1472(1)(1) to be a wholly strict
liability offense.® At the sane tine, we think that a serious due
process problem would be raised by application of this statute,
which carries fairly substantial penalties, to soneone who did not

know and had no reason to know that he was carryi ng a weapon. *®* Cf.

18 The |l egislative history of section 1472(1)(1) does not
i ndicate that Congress intended to require nens rea; nor does it
explicitly disclaimany such intent. See H R Rep. 958, 87th
Cong., 1st Sess., reprinted in 1961 U S.C C. A N 2563, 2574-75.
The history of section 1472(1)(2),SQthe Act's felony provisions,
di scussed suprasqQwhi ch was added as a part of the 1974 anendnents
to the Act, is simlarly unenlightening with respect to section
1472(1)(1). See Conf. Rep. No. 1194, 93d Cong., 2d Sess.,
reprinted in 1974 U S.C. C. A N 3996, 4010-11

Al t hough we are generally reluctant to place great weight
upon legislative history, we think it appropriate to consult such
materials where, as here, a statutory elenent is not nerely
anbi guous, but conpletely absent. Mreover, our prior cases in
this area have | ooked to legislative history. Conpare Nguyen,
916 F.2d at 1019 (intent to inpose strict liability "explicit[ ]"

in legislative history) with Wallington, 889 F.2d at 578
(legislative history fails to provide "any hint" that strict
liability was intended).

19 It is not unknown for terrorists to plant weapons in the
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United States v. Lee, 383 F. Supp. 1033, 1035 (E.D. Tenn.1974).
Avoi di ng such a construction of section 1472(1) (1), noreover, woul d
conport with the so-called "rule of lenity"sQthe principle that
anbi guous crimnal statutes should be construed in favor of the
defendant. Therefore, in light of the principles |aid dow by the
Suprene Court and our case law, we cannot conclude that the
Congress intended section 1472(1)(1) to reach persons acting
wi t hout any nens rea what soever. ?°
C.
Havi ng declined to construe section 1472(1)(1) as a strict
liability crinme, it remains to be determ ned what |evel of nental

culpability will support a conviction under it. W believe that

| uggage of passengers who are less likely to arouse the suspicion
of airport security than they are.

20 In affirmng the nmagistrate's decision, the district court
expressly "follow ed] the reasoning” of the Eighth Grcuit in
Flum The Flumcourt, in turn, had applied the test announced by
t hen-Judge Bl ackmun in Holdridge v. United States, 282 F.2d 302
(8th Gr. 1960):

"From t hese cases energes the proposition that where a
federal crimnal statute omts nention of intent and
where it seens to involve what is basically a matter of
policy, where the standard inposed is, under the

ci rcunst ances, reasonabl e and adherence thereto
properly expected of a person, where the penalty is
relatively small, where conviction does not gravely
besm rch, where the statutory crinme is not one taken
over fromthe common | aw, and where congressi onal
purpose i s supporting, the statute can be construed as
one not requiring crimnal intent."” 1d. at 310.

Al t hough the Hol dridge test has received the approval of at | east
sone nenbers of the Suprene Court, see United States v. Freed, 91
S.C. 1112, 1120 n.4 (1971)(Brennan, J., concurring in the
judgnent), and may well be an accurate statenent of |aw, we have
opted instead to follow the node of analysis of our cases in this
area. Nevertheless, we do not believe that the Hol dridge test
woul d yield a result contrary to our deci sion.
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the m ni muml evel of scientersQthe "shoul d have known" st andar dsQi s
appropriate and consistent with our case | aw.

The touchstone in our analysis is the severity of the
puni shnment aut horized by the statute. See 1 LaFave & Scott, supra,
§ 3.8, at 343 ("Other things being equal, the greater the possible
puni shment, the nore likely sone fault 1is required; and,
conversely, the lighter the possible punishnent, the nore likely
the l egislature neant toinposeliability without fault.")(footnote
omtted). A violation of section 1472(1)(1) is punishable by a
fine of up to $10,000 and a prison sentence of up to one year.
Therefore, a violation of section 1472(1)(1), although a non-petty
offense,?* is still a m sdenmeanor. ??

We believe that a "should have known" standard is consi stent

with our prior cases in this area.?® This case is npbst akin to

21 Petty offenses are statutorily defined as those puni shabl e
by not nore than six nmonths in prison or a $5,000 fine. See 18
US C 8 19. The petty/non-petty distinction is an inportant one
in our | aw because a defendant charged with a non-petty offense
has a right to a jury trial, whereas virtually no petty offenses
require jury trials. See Baldwin v. New York, 90 S.Ct. 1886
1988-90 (1970); Duncan v. Louisiana, 88 S.Ct. 1444, 1453 (1968);
Landry v. Hoepfner, 840 F.2d 1201, 1205-10 (5th Cr. 1988)(en
banc), cert. denied, 109 S.C. 1540 (1989). There is sone
support for the notion that those crines for which a jury trial
is required are also the ones for which sone degree of nens rea
shoul d be required. See Hopkins, Mens Rea and the Right to Trial
by Jury, 76 Cal. L. Rev. 391, 397, 415-16 (1988)(arguing that the
right to a jury trial includes the right to have a jury pass upon
one's "noral blanmeworthiness" or nens rea).

22 An offense that carries a punishnent of one year or |ess,
but nore than six nonths, is statutorily defined as a Class A

m sdeneanor. See 18 U . S.C. 8§ 3559(a)(6). Any offense for which
a sentence of nore than one year may be inposed is a fel ony.

23 We also note that in United States v. Margraf, supra, where
the i ssue was whet her section 1472(1) requires a defendant to
have know edge of a weapon's dangerousness, the Third G rcuit
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Del ahoussaye, in which we also applied a "should have known"
st andar d. I n Del ahoussaye, as here, the crine at issue was a
m sdeneanor, although one punishable by a maxinmm of only six
months in prison rather than one year. W decline today to go as
far as Anderson, in which we required actual know edge, because the
crime at issue in that case was a felony that carried a possible
sentence of ten years inprisonnent. See Nguyen, 916 F.2d at 1016

(di sti ngui shing Anderson on the ground that it involved a fel ony).?

The outconme of Wallington nay appear sonmewhat anomal ous when
conpared to Del ahoussaye, Anderson, and our decision today. I n
VWal lington, the statute at issue, 18 U S C. 8§ 1905, prohibited
gover nnent agents fromdi scl osi ng confidential information acquired

during the performance of their duties. As here, the crinme was a

uphel d the conviction on the ground that the defendant "should
have been aware that [the knife] could be used as a deadly weapon
and that others could have classified it as a deadly weapon."

483 F.2d at 712 (enphasis added); id. at 719 (Seitz, C J.,
dissenting)("the majority . . . upholds [defendant's] conviction
on the ground he shoul d have been aware ot her people could have
consi dered or used his pocketknife as a deadly or dangerous
weapon if carried aboard a plane.")(enphasis in original).

24 I n Nguyen, where we eschewed a requirenent of specific
intent, the crinme was puni shable by six nonths in prison and a
$25,000 fine, a |l esser sentence (but a greater fine) than is
avail able for violations of section 1472(1)(1). However, as
previously noted, in Nguyen the Congress had clearly expressed
its intent with respect to both nens rea and penalties.

Mor eover, the Nguyen court appeared to view the defendant's
contention as being that know edge of the law (that caretta
caretta turtles were listed as endangered or it was illegal to
transport them was required. 1d. at 1018, 1019. Not hi ng
relating to know edge of the law or of the |egal significance of
the weapon in the purse is involved here. Garrett fully knew
what the gun was, but clains she sinply did not know it was in
her purse.
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Class A msdeneanor wth a one year naxinmm sentence.
Nevert hel ess, we construed section 1905 as requiring know edge on
the part of its violators that the informati on was confidenti al .
What di stinguishes Wallington, we think, is that it was a First
Amendnent case. The defendant in Wallington had argued that the
statute was inpermssibly overbroad in that it would punish even
i nnocent disclosures of information. W gave the statute a narrow
construction to avoid a serious First Amendnent question:

"At least in a substantial nunber of cases, the

requi renment that governnent enployees refrain from

know ngly disclosing confidential information contained

in governnent files or collected in the scope of their

official duties wll strike a perm ssi bl e bal ance between

the First Amendnent and the practical necessities of

public service." Wllington, 889 F.2d at 579 (enphasis

added) .
It seens apparent that the Wallington court believed a high |evel
of mens rea was required for section 1905 in order to avoid serious
questions of the law s validity under the First Anendnent. The
governnent may certainly penalize the deliberate disclosure of
confidential information. See, e.g., Haig v. Agee, 101 S.Ct. 2766
(1981) (uphol di ng revocati on of passport of former Cl A enpl oyee who
had pledged to reveal the identities of undercover ClA agents).
Nevert hel ess, public enpl oyees do not surrender their free speech
rights conpletely. See, e.g., Rankin v. MPherson, 107 S. C. 2891
(1987). Thus, Wallington was concerned that a serious First
Amendnent problem mght attend any attenpt to attach crimnal
sanctions to a public enployee who in good faith, albeit

negligently, believed the information disclosed was not

confidential. In Pickering v. Board of Education, 88 S. C. 1731

21



(1968), the Suprene Court held that a public school teacher may not
be dism ssed for sending to a | ocal newspaper a letter critical of
t he board of education "absent proof of fal se statenments know ngly
or recklessly made by him" |d. at 1738 (enphasis added); id. at
1742 (White, J., dissenting in part)("The Court holds that truthful
statenents by a school teacher critical of the school board are
within the anbit of the First Amendnent. So also are false
statenents i nnocently or negligently nmade.") (enphasi s added). See
also Florida Star v. B.J.F., 109 S.C. 2603, 2612 (1989) (reversing
awar d of damages for publishing nanme of rape victi munder state | aw
inposing liability without regard to scienter or degree of fault);
see also id. at 2616 (Wite, J., dissenting); United States v.
Hi cks, 980 F.2d 963, 973-74 & nn. 15-16 (5th G r. 1992) (crine of
intimdating flight crew nenbers, by use of vulgar and profane
| anguage, requires knowi ng violation). In short, Wallington
demanded a high Il evel of nens rea in the context of a statute that
rai sed serious First Amendnent concerns. That is not the case
here.

We concl ude that one violates section 1472(1)(21) if, but only
if, she either knew or should have known that the conceal ed weapon
i n question was on or about her person or property while aboard or

attenpting to board the aircraft.

D.
There is anple evidence in the record to support the
magi strate's conclusion that Garrett shoul d have known t hat she was

carrying the gun when she attenpted to board by going through
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security. Garrett testified that she had traveled by air many
tinmes and that she was aware that it was illegal totry to bring a
gun through airport security. And if she needed any rem nder,
there were two large signs in the area of the security checkpoint.
The first sign, printed with large white letters upon a bright red
background, stated: "CARRY NO WEAPONS OR EXPLOSI VES BEYOND THI S
PO NT: VI OLATORS ARE SUBJECT TO PROSECUTI ON UNDER FEDERAL CRI M NAL
STATUTES REQUI RI NG PENALTI ES ANDY OR | MPRI SONMENT. " The sign al so
had an i mage of a pistol and a knife over which was superinposed a
circle and a diagonal line. The other sign displayed a |ist of
"Federal Safety and Security Inspection Rules" and inforned
passengers, anong ot her things, that, "Federal regul ati ons prohi bit
persons fromhavi ng a FI REARM expl osive or incendi ary device on or
about their person or accessible property when entering or in an
airport sterile area or while aboard an aircraft.”

It is also relevant that the gun was in Garrett's hand bag.
Garrett testified that she owns and uses seven or ei ght purses and
that she did not renmenber when she put the gun in this particular
bag, which was described at trial as a |arge | eather satchel. She
stated that she did not put the gun in the bag on the day of the
flight, nor did she think that day to check the bag for it. On the
ot her hand, she testified that she knew that she previously had
carried the gun in that particul ar bag. Garrett also testified
that she had put her wallet, checkbook, and makeup in the bag on
the day in question. It is inferable that she woul d have used the
bag during the day. W think it patently reasonable to require

i ndividuals in such circunstances to be aware of the presence of a
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firearmin their purse or equival ent bag, or, indeed, to infer that
they actually have such know edge.

In short, there is sufficient evidence in the record to
support the magistrate's finding that Garrett should have known
that she was carrying a firearm?

E

Garrett also nekes the independent argunent that the
magi strate erred by failing to dismss the bill of information
because it did not allege that she carried the weapon "know ngly

and intentionally."? Garrett raised this argument in a pre-tria

25 W& note one additional piece of evidence. The security
guard who screened Garrett's bag testified that i mediately after
t he bag was stopped on the conveyor belt, but before the guard
had said anything, Garrett threw up her hands and announced t hat
she was a state trooper's wife. Garrett simlarly testified that
"I don't knowif it nmakes any difference; | used to be married to
a state policeman.” The guard also testified that, unlike nost
passengers discovered with guns, Garrett did not appear upset or
nervous. The magi strate thought that Garrett's statenent
"indicat[ed] at least initially sonme justification that she could
carry the gun.” It is possible to read the magi strate as
suggesting that Garrett may have known what she was doi ng but

t hought it was perm ssible. However, in the sane transcribed
paragraph, the magistrate also stated that "I need not decide
whet her [Garrett] had actual know edge or not." In light of the
|atter statenment, and in the absence of any express finding by
the trial court on the credibility of Garrett's claimto have
forgotten the gun, we view the magi strate as having found only
that Garrett should have known the gun was there in her purse.

26 The bill of information all eged:

"On or about Decenber 18, 1990, in the Eastern District
of Louisiana, the defendant, REG NA KAY GARRETT, did,
while attenpting to board an aircraft intended for
operation in air transportation, have about her person
and property a conceal ed deadly and danger ous weapon,
to wit: a Browning sem -automatic .25 caliber handgun
serial nunmber 210582, which would have been accessible
to her in flight; all in violation of Title 49, United
States Code, Section 1472 (1)(1)."
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nmotion to dismss the information because of its failure to all ege
"that the defendant knowingly and intentionally commtted the
violation." The magi strate denied the notion nine days before
trial, stating in his oral reasons that a "should have known"
rather than an actual know edge standard was applicable. Garrett
renewed her notion just before trial began, again asserting that

the information was defective for "not alleging a know ng and
intentional comm ssion of this crine."” The nagistrate again deni ed
the notion, repeating his earlier ruling that actual know edge was
not required and that a "should have known" standard was
appl i cabl e. In her appeal to the district court, Garrett again
asserted that the information was deficient because it did not
all ege that she acted "knowi ngly and intentionally." Garrett cites
United States v. Pou, 484 F. Supp. 972 (S.D.Fla.1979), in which the
court concluded that actual know edge is an elenent of a section
1472(1) violation and dismssed a bill of information that failed
to allege such (see also, supra, note 14).

For the reasons previously stated, we agree wth the
magi strate that a "should have known," rather than an actual
know edge, standard is applicable. This answers the only argunent
as to the sufficiency of the information that Garrett has ever
expressly raised, here or below In these circunstances, we
decline to reverse the conviction on the basis that the information
did not expressly allege that Garrett shoul d have known t he gun was
in her purse, although clearly the better practice woul d have been
to include such an allegation.

The function of a bill of informationis to fairly informthe
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accused of the charges against himand to allow himto plead an
acquittal or conviction in bar of future prosecution for the sane
offense. An indictnent or information is sufficient if it serves
t hese purposes. See Hamling v. United States, 94 S. Ct. 2887, 2907
(1974); Russell v. United States, 82 S.C. 1038, 1046-47 (1962).
Here, there is no suggestion that the information failed to serve
t hese functions.

W al so note that the | anguage used in the information tracked
the language of the statute, and usually this suffices.?  See
United States v. Colon-Padilla, 770 F.2d 1328, 1334 (5th CGr.
1985). However, it is also true, as a general matter, that "[i]f
the statute omts an essential el enent, such as nens rea, then that
el ement nust be added to the pleading.” 2 W LaFave & J. Israel,
Crimnal Procedure § 19.2, at 452 (1984). This rule may have | ess
stringent application where the required nental el enent is not only
not expressly contained in the statute but is also sonething | ess
t han actual know edge or specific intent. For exanple, in Tallmn
v. United States, 465 F.2d 282 (7th Gr. 1972), the court concl uded
that for purposes of 18 U S.C. 8§ 1464 the required state of m nd
was "knew or reasonably should have known," id. at 288, and that
"in view of the content of the scienter requirenent inplied in the
statute . . . the indictnent need not allege that elenent."” 1d. at

286.

21 This fact distinguishes United States v. Pupo, 841 F.2d
1235, 1239 (4th Gr.)(en banc), cert. denied sub nom Govantes v.
United States, 109 S.Ct. 113 (1988) ("It is well established that
an indictnent is defective if it fails to allege el enents of
scienter that are expressly contained in the statute that

descri bes the offense.") (enphasi s added).
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In any event, any error in this case was harm ess because the
magi strate applied the nens rea standard that we approve today.
See United States v. Fusaro, 708 F.2d 17, 23 (1st Cir.), cert.
denied, 104 S.C. 524 (1983) (where indictnent failed to charge
intent, but jury was instructed that intent is necessary, any error
was harm ess). Fusaro's reasoning in this respect nay be open to
question in a felony indictnent case, where it is inportant that
the grand jury find probable cause as to all elenents of the
of fense. \Where the offense is prosecuted by information, however,
the charging instrunent nay be anmended.?® N ne days before trial
the magistrate rejected Garrett's challenge to the information for
not alleging that she acted "knowi ngly and intentionally," ruling
that such a state of m nd was not required for conviction, and t hat
a "shoul d have known" standard would instead be applied. Garrett
did not thereafter even alternatively attack the information for
not all eging "should have known, " but nerely repeated, just before
trial, her earlier challenge, which the nmagistrate again rejected
on the basis that the correct standard was "should have known."

Garrett, and the prosecution, clearly knew in advance the nenta

28 See United States v. Adanms, 778 F.2d 1117, 1122, 1125 (5th
Cr. 1985) (indictnment, as act of grand jury, nay not be
anended); Advisory Commttee Notes to Rule 7(e), Fed. R Cim P.
("unlike an indictnment, an information nmay be anended"); 2 W
LaFave & J. Israel, Crimnal Procedure § 19.2(g) at 462 (West
1984) (permssible to anend information by "an anendnent that
perfects a defective informati on by addi ng an essenti al el enent
of the crime," but not so as to "allege a new offense"); Wi ght,

Federal Practice and Procedure, Crimnal 2d, § 128 (". . . the
restrictive rules about anmendnent of an indictnent have no
application to an information. |Instead the information may be
anended in either formof [sic] substance"; id. at 430, footnote
omtted).
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el enent the case would be tried on, and Garrett objected to that
only because she contended a nore culpable state of mnd was
requi red, not because the information did not allege the "shoul d
have known" standard. |In these circunstances, the magistrate can
be regarded as in substance having nade, w thout objection of
either party, any anendnent required to incorporate "should have
known" into the information.

Under all the circunstances, we conclude there is no plain
error and that Garrett's substantial rights were not violated by
the form of the information. See Fed. R Cim P. 52(a); Cf.
Del ahoussaye, 573 F.2d at 913.

I11. Application of the Sentencing Quidelines

Garrett's final argunent is that in calculating her offense
level the trial court failed to give her a downward adjustnent
pursuant to U.S.S.G 8§ 2k1.5(b)(3). That section provides: "If the
def endant's possession of the weapon or material would have been
lawful but for 49 U S . C. § 1472(l) and he acted with nere
negli gence, decrease by 3 levels.” \Watever the nerits of her
contention (and they are suspect), the magistrate stated in clear
terms that he would have inposed the sane sentence even if he
t hought that Garrett were entitled to the reduction. Because it
woul d have been consistent with the guidelines and well within the
magi strate's purview to do so, any error in applying section
2k1.5(b)(3) therefore was harm ess. See Wllians v. United States,
112 S.C. 1112, 1120-21 (1992).
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Concl usi on
For the reasons stated herein, Garrett's conviction and

sentence are

AFF| RMED.
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